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THE story of every Marine must begin at Belleau Wood.


Lieutenant General Victor Harold Krulak was not present—he was five years old at the time—but neither he nor any other Marine can be understood without appreciation of this battle, which took place thirty-nine miles east of Paris in the early summer of 1918. The battle was a turning point not just for World War I, but for American military history. The modern Marine Corps was born at Belleau Wood, and the motivation for every accomplishment of every Marine since then has been to build upon what happened in this dark copse surrounded by a sea of wheat punctuated with bloodred poppies.


The U.S. Army would never forgive the Marines for what happened at Belleau Wood. George C. Marshall and Douglas MacArthur were Army officers in France in 1918, and they seethed with anger toward the Marines. Both men would become generals and achieve great prominence in World War II, and their resentment toward the Marine Corps would color American military history up through Korea and even to Vietnam and beyond.


As one of the most important Marines in the bitter interservice squabbles after World War II, Victor Krulak was instrumental in saving the Marine Corps from extinction, and in so doing he exacerbated Army animosity toward the Marines. Even today, the Army as an institution remains jealous of the warrior spirit of the Marine Corps.


And it all goes back to Belleau Wood.


THE Great War opened in 1914 and involved eleven of the most powerful empires on earth. On the western front, early battles ranged over hundreds of miles before the industrialized misery of trench warfare set in, and for about three years the war was more or less static. The Belgians, British, and French manned a dank and squalid system of trenches that stretched from the North Sea to the Swiss border. During quiet times on the ninety-mile segment of the British front, more than a thousand soldiers a day perished: “wastage,” staff members called it. It was a bloodbath that, according to Paul Fussell in The Great War and Modern Memory, “domesticates the fantastic and normalizes the unspeakable.” The horrors of trench warfare cast a pall over much of the world—frozen mud, poison gas, stacked corpses, all for the sake of a few feet here, a few feet there—and it seemed the carnage would go on forever.


America read of all this, sniffed, and remained aloof. Those were European empires at war, and a pacifist mood characterized America. Indeed, there was a certain sense of moral superiority in being an ocean removed from the madness in Europe.


On May 7, 1915, a German U-boat sank the British liner Lusitania, killing 1,198 passengers, 128 of whom were Americans. President Woodrow Wilson sent Germany a letter of protest, but he would not be drawn into war. In fact, he was reelected in 1916 on the slogan “He Kept Us Out of War.” It would have been hard to get into it, regardless; while European armies counted their troops by the millions, the U.S. Army had 133,000 men in uniform, the Navy had 67,000, and the Marine Corps had 15,000. Few countries were ever so ill prepared for conflict.


In January 1917 came the intercepted Zimmerman Note, in which Germany asked Mexico to join an alliance against the United States, and Wilson could no longer afford to be neutral. In April, he asked Congress for a declaration of war against Germany.


The Army wanted to build up and train a force of at least half a million men before sending them to Europe, but the staggering French and British wanted the Americans now. So Wilson ordered a symbolic force, a single Army division of about 20,000 soldiers that would be known as the American Expeditionary Force (AEF), to France. It was under the command of General John “Black Jack” Pershing, fresh from a fruitless yearlong chase of Pancho Villa down in Mexico. Pershing was a bland and colorless commander whose greatest attribute was obstinacy.


The Marines had been the first American military unit to fight in both the Philippines and Cuba during the Spanish-American War. They had previously fought in China, Nicaragua, Panama, the Dominican Republic, Mexico, and Haiti—whenever America needed a small amphibious force to send ashore. Coming from ships, the Marines were not considered an army of invasion, merely a seagoing police force to protect American interests. But when the Marines were not needed, there were ongoing efforts to abolish them or to absorb them into the Army. In 1829, 1831, 1834, 1866, 1908, and 1909, the Navy, the Army, and several presidents tried to get rid of the Marines. It seemed that the hardest fighting the Marines ever did was fighting for the privilege of defending their country.


Pershing did not like the Marines and was offended by their “First to Fight” motto. This thing in Europe, he decided, would be an all-Army affair. But if the Marines were not part of the fighting, they almost certainly would be disbanded.


The Commandant of the Marine Corps went over General Pershing’s head to the secretary of war, who sent two Marine regiments to France. They formed the 4th Brigade of Marines, fewer than 8,000 men.


Pershing thought the fighting would be over in a short while. He scorned the stasis of trench warfare and believed that Americans would break the war wide open. His soldiers began training with experienced French and British officers, getting ready to go into the line sometime after the first of the year. All the while, the Army scorned the Marines. One general referred to them in official correspondence as “adventurers, illiterates, and drunkards.”


Pershing sent most of the Marines to rear areas, where they built warehouses and barracks, unloaded ships, helped dredge harbors, strung telephone lines, patrolled icy docks, and pulled drunken soldiers from bars. Far from the front, the Marines drilled and practiced their marksmanship. A fundamental tenet of the Marine Corps is that every Marine is a rifleman, and these Marines were only months away from proving that they ranked among the best in the world.


Marines were not alone in being prevented from doing their jobs by the stoic and bureaucratic Pershing. His headquarters at Chaumont would not allow American war correspondents near the front, and Pershing ordered that when American forces went into battle, correspondents could not identify by name any of the Army regiments, could not say which state the soldiers were from, and could not distinguish between regular troops and National Guard troops, or between infantry and artillery. They could report only that “units” or “elements” of the Army were in combat. Little did he know it, but Pershing had condemned the Army to anonymity.


Several stories exist as to how correspondents were able to use the word “Marines” in their dispatches. The most logical is that correspondents argued that since they could use the word “Army,” they should be able to write of “Marines.” Censors agreed, overlooking the fact that there was only one brigade of Marines in France and that simply saying “Marines” was the same as using a unit designation.


In a very short time, Pershing’s decisions would explode in ways he never anticipated and would forever regret.


FIELD Marshal Paul von Hindenburg, a jovial little fat man with a big mustache, and his deputy, General Erich Ludendorff, an unsmiling model of Teutonic efficiency, thought it would take America at least a year to raise and train enough troops to become a factor in the war. Hindenburg proposed to end the war before the Yanks gained strength. Come spring of 1918, the Germans would launch an offensive on the western front that would cut off and destroy the British and at the same time take Paris. Although the city held no particular strategic value, its symbolic importance was such that if it fell, French soldiers would almost certainly lay down their arms.


By late winter, Ludendorff had moved numerous divisions from Russia—where because of the fall of the czar and Russia’s withdrawal from the war, they no longer were needed—and added them to the western front. Very soon he would have 194 divisions—about 3.6 million soldiers—to throw against the French, British, and AEF.


Ludendorff knew that the fate of Germany depended on the outcome of the spring offensive. But while Ludendorff plotted strategy and moved great armies, the Allies squabbled like schoolboys. The French commander in chief, Henri Pétain, was incompetent, pessimistic, and arrogant. The British senior officer, Sir Douglas Haig, in addition to being even less competent than Pétain, was provincial, inflexible, and devoid of imagination, and he had the smugness of one who believed his every step was guided by divine providence. Haig was the paradigm for what Paul Fussell calls the “unredeemable defectiveness” of generals.


What Pétain and Haig had in common was their utter contempt for the AEF’s military ability. The French and British, they declared, were the experts on trench warfare—and could point to 2.6 million dead to prove that expertise. America, on the other hand, was not a world power and had never fought an overseas war on this scale. Not only were the Yanks unproven, but they also lacked sufficient training, and they knew little about trench warfare, artillery and machine guns, and snipers. Therefore, the European commanders insisted, the Americans must “amalgamate”—that is, go into battle as small replacement units under French or British officers. They absolutely could not fight as a separate force, nor could they be given their own sector of the line.


Pershing was adamant that his troops would not fight under foreign officers. Either they would fight in strength and have their own section of the line, or he would not commit them, or the hundreds of thousands on the way to France, to battle. “I will not parcel out American boys,” he was quoted as saying.


Throughout the fall and winter of 1917, the Allied high command was a microcosm of the war: opposing sides across a line, with little or no advance in either direction.


AT 4 a.m. on March 21, 1918, Ludendorff launched his attack. Led by elite sturmtruppen, fast-moving riflemen and machine gunners trained to punch through enemy defenses and hold the rear areas as they waited for reserves, Germany struck at the Somme, launching what some historians consider the most horrific battle of the war. The attack almost destroyed the British Fifth Army, which was pushed back forty miles and suffered 300,000 casualties. Haig issued his famous “Backs to the Wall” order of the day, in which he decreed that his troops would hold every position and would fight to the last man.


Although the German army made great advances, the momentum slowed before Ludendorff could break through and romp on toward Paris. He attacked again, made more advances, and again lost momentum. Germany, nevertheless, had seized more territory than had either side in the past three years.


Desperate, Pétain and Haig beseeched Pershing for American replacements. Pershing was implacable: we go in as the AEF, or we don’t go at all.


In late April, a young American intelligence analyst prepared a report saying the Germans were consolidating their forces for a major attack and the attack would come within thirty days. Pétain and Haig scoffed: the Americans had not been here long enough to develop reliable intelligence sources. Besides, surely the Germans were as tired as the British and French, their supply lines were overextended, and they had suffered heavy casualties.


About midnight on May 27, the Germans attacked. They advanced twelve miles the first day and were approaching the French city of Château-Thierry. The most important part of Château-Thierry was located north of the Marne River, another part on an island, and a third part south of the river. By June 1, Ludendorff’s forces had taken the part of town located north of the Marne, which meant the German salient was only thirty-nine miles from Paris.


The French destroyed the bridge leading to the part of Château-Thierry located on the island, and the German army was temporarily checked. But long-range German artillery was dropping shells onto the streets of Paris, causing French soldiers to retreat, throw up their hands, and exclaim, “La guerre est fini!” In the past few days, the Germans had taken 65,000 prisoners.


Haig and Pétain blamed the disaster in large part on the failure of the Americans to join the war. They went over Pershing’s head to President Wilson and told him that the war might be lost unless American troops entered the fray. When Wilson refused to interfere, the Allies agreed to let the Americans fight in force and to have their own section of the line. Pétain, as angry as he was desperate, put his finger on a map, pressed so hard that his fingernail made a groove in the surface, and asked if Pershing could send AEF forces there, to the area northwest of Château-Thierry.


THE late spring of 1918 was one of those historical moments when gigantic forces collide and afterward the world is never the same. The air was redolent with the knowledge that years of trench warfare were coming to a head, that a great and decisive battle was looming, and that more than the fate of France was at stake—the fate of the Western world was about to be decided. Americans were going into battle against the unstoppable German army, and everywhere people asked, with as much hope as curiosity, “Can these Americans fight?”


For their part, American war correspondents were ecstatic that the AEF was moving into the line. Most American journalists attached themselves to Army units, but Floyd Gibbons, a flamboyant correspondent for the Chicago Tribune, decided that he would go over the top with the Marines. Many Marines had worn out their distinctive green uniforms and now were wearing the same khaki uniforms as the Army. But Marine officers also wore the Marine Corps insignia—the eagle, globe, and anchor—on their helmets and collars. By now the Marines accounted for less than one percent of the AEF and were described by an Army historian as “that little raft of sea soldiers in an ocean of Army.” But they were a proud and cocky bunch, and Gibbons liked that.


For twenty-four hours, the Marines rode in trucks called camions on dusty roads leading to the front lines. Along the way, they met retreating Frenchmen whose eyes were sunken and whose bodies were stooped, men worn-out by war. The Marines, most of them too young to grow beards, were laughing, joking, ogling young women in every village, singing American songs, radiating American energy, and showing the weary and dispirited French the meaning of “joie de vivre.” They were about to face the foe, and they were happy.


As they approached the front, a retreating French major told a Marine captain that the French lines had been overrun and the Marines should turn back. When the captain pretended that he did not understand, the French officer took a pad from his tunic and wrote an order for the Marines to retreat. The captain read the note, looked at the French officer, and said, “Retreat, hell! We just got here.”


It was happenstance, mere coincidence, an ironic decision by the gods of war, that the Army was deployed south of the Paris–Metz road and the Marines were ordered to a place north of the road, to a place in the line between and slightly north of the villages of Lucy-le-Bocage and Bouresches. They would occupy the Bois de Belleau, or “Belleau Wood,” a bosky patch of woods about one and a half miles long and half a mile wide that French intelligence said was “lightly held.”


Pilots of German aircraft and personnel in observation balloons saw the hustle and bustle behind the Allied lines and knew replacements were arriving. Those new troops were identified as Americans. French, British, or Americans—what did it matter?


Because his advance had again stalled, Ludendorff, in a move that was a precursor of the blitzkrieg tactics of World War II, wheeled and moved the point of his advance to another position: through Belleau Wood. Once the attack resumed, there would be nothing between the Germans and Paris.


Nothing but the U.S. Marines.


The Marines had no aircraft, no observation balloons, and very little artillery support. But they had their rifles, and that was enough.


On June 6, the Germans marched out of Belleau Wood. Their perfect formation, coal-scuttle helmets, and rifles at the ready gave them an air of terrible efficiency. Their eyes were on the Americans some 800 yards away. At the time, opposing forces in open areas usually engaged at 400 yards, so it would be a few moments before they were close enough to fire.


The Marines gave a few clicks of elevation to their rifle sights, waited a moment, and began firing. Almost every shot dropped a German. Hitting a target from 700 yards was not difficult for a Marine. At 600 yards, 500 yards, or 400 yards, it was downright easy.


The Germans were astonished. This was their first indication that they were up against a new kind of opponent. The effectiveness of the rifle fire broke up the German attack.


Now it was time for the Marines to do what they had come to France to do: attack. Now it was their turn to march across the wheat field. The most chilling of military orders was given: Fix bayonets! This meant hand-to-hand combat with no quarter asked. It would be a fight to the death.


The Marines marched in line abreast across the open field, their officers waving walking canes to emphasize their orders. Maxim machine guns with interlocking fields of fire began stuttering at five hundred rounds per minute—taka-taka-taka-taka—and Marines fell as if cut down by a scythe. Hugging the ground provided no safety, as some Maxims had been sighted to fire almost at ground level. The first Marine attack in World War I was faltering. Then rose Gunnery Sergeant Dan Daly, rifle high in the air, and he thundered, “Come on, you sons of bitches! Do you want to live forever?”


Daly charged through the wheat, into the dark hell of Belleau Wood and the deadly chatter of the Maxims. The Marines followed, shouting, screaming, intent only on their orders: “Occupy Belleau Wood.”


The Marines suffered 1,087 casualties on June 6, 1918, more than in any other day in the preceding 143 years of Marine Corps history. When captains fell, they were replaced by lieutenants. When lieutenants fell, they were replaced by sergeants. When sergeants fell, they were replaced by corporals. And when corporals fell, they were replaced by privates. In the stubble of the wheat and the crushed poppies, the Marines, as poet Rupert Brooke wrote of an earlier battle, “poured out the red / Sweet wine of youth.”


Ludendorff knew that if the Americans were victorious during their first battle, the engagement not only would have a great impact on the Allies’ morale, but it would also hasten the introduction of more American troops into the war. To the Germans, Belleau Wood was the pivot point of the war. The Allies knew this and were determined to win no matter the cost. National wills were locked in mortal combat, and whoever won, the victory would assume mythic significance.


Five times the Germans counterattacked, and five times the Marines held. For the next nineteen days, the Marines had little sleep, food, or water. They did not take off their shoes or wash their faces, and their only rest was a quick nap on bare ground. Inch by inch and foot by foot and yard by yard, they advanced through Belleau Wood. They charged machine-gun nests. They endured artillery bombardments that splintered trees, blasted away the thick undergrowth, and left nothing unbroken except their spirit. The Germans fired shells containing mustard gas, and the poison was so thick it dripped from the trees and lingered in the low places. Death was everywhere, but the Marines had only one goal in mind: “Occupy Belleau Wood.” A letter taken from a German body said, “The Americans are savages. They kill everything that moves.”


The German army, until then considered the greatest on earth, was stopped and then pushed back. After the Marines advanced more than two miles, the Germans threw in two more divisions. But the Marines dug no trenches; they advanced or they died.


Floyd Gibbons was in the thick of the battle until his left eye and part of his face was shot away. After surgery, and wearing an eye patch, he returned to America as the most famous World War I correspondent.


His June 6 story ran under a superheated banner headline:




U.S. MARINES SMASH HUNS

GAIN GLORY IN BRISK FIGHT ON THE MARNE


CAPTURE MACHINE GUNS, KILL BOCHES, TAKE PRISONERS





The next day, there was another piece from Gibbons, topped with a headline that read:



MARINES WIN HOT BATTLE

SWEEP ENEMY FROM HEIGHTS NEAR THIERRY




The usually reserved New York Times got into the act with this ecstatic headline:



OUR MARINES ATTACK,

GAIN MILE AT VEUILLY,

RESUME DRIVE AT NIGHT,

FOE LOSING HEAVILY




There were some reports of unnamed Army units, but they were virtually ignored. Americans knew only of “Our Marines,” whom, so it was reported, the Germans called teufelhunden—“devil dogs.” Back home, those reading the newspapers could be forgiven if they thought there was nothing on the western front but U.S. Marines and dead Germans.


Pershing realized his mistake and forbade correspondents to mention Marines in future dispatches. But it was too late. America had begun its love affair with the U.S. Marines.


On June 26, Marine major Maurice Shearer sent a message: “Belleau Woods now U.S. Marine Corps entirely,” and the question “Can these Americans fight?” was answered. The Marines, along with the 2nd Army Division, so damaged the German army that after Belleau Wood, five opposing German divisions were declared by their commanding officer to be “unfit for further combat.”


In 1918, Belleau Wood would be the closest the German army got to Paris.


On June 30, the French high command, over the objections of Pershing, sent out word that in all official papers Bois de Belleau henceforth would be known as Bois de la Brigade de Marine.


On July 4, a few dozen Marines were pulled out of the line to go to Paris and be part of a parade honoring the Americans. That small group of Marines evoked a far greater response from the French than did larger Army units. It did not matter when Pershing truthfully spoke of the contribution his soldiers had made; to the French, it was the Marines who had saved the City of Light. Two regiments, the 5th and 6th Marines, were awarded the Croix de Guerre, and today they still wear a braided green and red rope called a fourragère on their left shoulders, a quiet announcement that their professional antecedents fought at Belleau Wood.


On July 10, President Wilson reported to the U.S. Senate that the Marines had “turned the tide of battle” and that Belleau Wood had “begun the rout that was to save Europe and the World.”


After Belleau Wood, the Marines counted their dead and hoped for rest. Then they saw the camions and knew they were going into battle again. History records that the Marines were the spearhead of the next great battle, the victorious Soissons campaign. In the weeks afterward, the Allies gathered their strength and on August 8 broke through and began to collapse the German army. Now the British no longer had their backs to the wall. Now the French no longer were in retreat. One writer described the western front as a great rubber band that had been stretched to its limit and now snapped back toward Germany. With the example of the U.S. Marines before them, the Allies, their blood high, had seized the initiative. The German army was in retreat. Both the end of the war and the outcome were obvious. In November, the armistice was signed.


By then the Marine brigade had taken about 4,000 casualties, some 55 percent of its original strength and the largest number of casualties suffered by any American brigade in World War I. The Marines had captured 12,000 German soldiers—almost one-fifth of the total number captured by the AEF—but the Germans had captured only twenty-five Marines. The explanation is simple: Marines don’t surrender. They win or they die.


Before June 1918, few people had ever heard of the U.S. Marines. Now people the world over knew about them.


For the Marines, other wars and other great battles lay ahead: Guadalcanal and Iwo Jima in World War II, the Pusan Perimeter and Chosin Reservoir in Korea, Hue City and Khe Sanh in Vietnam, Anbar Province and Fallujah in Iraq, and Helmand Province in Afghanistan. But Belleau Wood is still the most significant battle ever fought by the United States Marine Corps.


Many of the Marines who died at Belleau Wood were later taken home for reburial, but more than three hundred are buried there in the Aisne-Marne American Cemetery, an out-of-the way piece of France that is forever American. After the war, however, the Army-dominated American Battle Monuments Commission would not allow the Marine Corps emblem to be placed in the cemetery, nor would the Army allow a statue of a Marine or a marker to be erected to acknowledge this place as the Bois de la Brigade de Marine.


Nevertheless, those who fought at Belleau Wood were men around whom the Marine Corps placed a special aura. Among them were Holland M. Smith, Lemuel C. Shepherd, and Gerald C. Thomas. Remember these names, because not only would these men become the senior leadership of the Marine Corps in World War II, but they would have an enormous impact on the career of the man who is the subject of this book. He would read of their experience in France, and he would remember.


And America would remember the Marines. In dark times ahead, when America needed rough men whose hearts were filled with the spirit of attack, the Marines would be the first ones called upon. After Belleau Wood, the Marines were no longer a small, shipborne gendarmerie. They had entered the world of massed firepower, and in future wars they would demonstrate that they could respond with more trained and equipped combat troops quicker than any other branch of the U.S. military. Not only would their boots be the first on the ground in America’s future wars, but the word “Marine” would become synonymous with the word “victory.” If the Marines could win at Belleau Wood, it was now expected that they could win anywhere.


Of course, the Army simmered with anger over all this. The Army had fought alongside the Marines, and Pershing saw the Marines as grandstanding publicity hounds. In 1956, Army general Matthew B. Ridgway, a hero of the Korean conflict, looked back on Belleau Wood as “one of many prime examples of men’s lives being thrown away against objectives which were not worth the cost.”


But in truth, Belleau Wood belongs in the pantheon of great military battles, alongside Cannae, where Hannibal defeated the Romans; Gaugamela, where Alexander the Great defeated the Persians; and Agincourt, where Henry V defeated the French. In all these battles, relatively small military units were called upon to do the impossible against vastly superior forces. The fact that they were victorious is the reason those battles are still remembered.


In 1997, the Commandant of the Marine Corps went to Belleau Wood to videotape a message to all Marines upon the occasion of the 222nd birthday of the Marine Corps. He ended a powerful and emotional address by putting the events of June 1918 in perspective: “Belleau Wood is a great river that runs through the heart of every Marine.”


Now we can begin the story of Victor Krulak.







1
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Once Upon a Time


HE was never a promising young man.


From a selfish and headstrong boy who lied, falsified documents, and was guilty of moral turpitude, he grew to become the most important officer in the history of the United States Marine Corps, a man of dazzling intellect and extraordinary vision who was at the center of or deeply involved in some of the most important issues facing America during the tumultuous middle years of the twentieth century. He became a man whose contributions to his country are almost impossible to measure.


In America we believe that a person’s early years are crucial to the understanding of that person’s life, and we have common, even trite, expressions to bolster that belief: “The child is father of the man,” “As the twig is bent, so grows the tree,” and “The apple does not fall far from the tree.” In one sense, the life of Victor Harold Krulak is a stark refutation of this belief. Krulak’s icy intellect, unbending will, and extraordinary self-control enabled him to turn his back on his childhood—even on some family members—and create a life far removed from his early years.


Krulak changed, hid, or denied almost everything of importance about his childhood, and for good reason. If the great secret of his childhood—a secret not known to his wife and three sons—had been revealed, he may not have been admitted to the U.S. Naval Academy. Had he not minimized another part of his youth, he either would have been driven from the Marine Corps or would have advanced no further in rank than captain or major. He became an important historical figure only because he kept a secret and because he never looked back. “My father steered by the stars, not by the wake,” said one of his sons.


Krulak wrote three books, numerous magazine articles, dozens of speeches, and hundreds of letters. Yet those close to him over the years say that rarely did he make even tangential reference to his parents, his childhood, and his personal beliefs. They remember only that he was assertive and controlling and that he had a pile-driving personality—attributes that indicate an attempt to hide the inner man.


Krulak’s bravery in four wars—the second Sino-Japanese War, World War II, the Korean War, and the Vietnam War—are well documented, as are his contributions to the Marine Corps, to the U.S. military, and to America. But the glory was never enough. Krulak was driven by a dark wind and all his life was a fabulist who craved recognition, concocted stories, and added untrue events to his highly decorated career.


Many will find it difficult to sympathize with Krulak’s duplicity—with the fact that even as a boy, he displayed such a marked lack of character. But the thirty-four-year arc of Krulak’s military life is a model of rectitude, discipline, and duty. Nothing more demonstrates this than when, at the pinnacle of his career, when the two things he wanted most—a fourth star and to become Commandant of the Marine Corps—were within reach, he risked everything by confronting a U.S. president. For that act of great moral courage, a vengeful commander in chief would deny Krulak his dream.


The story of Victor Krulak is a quintessential American story. And like many American stories, it begins elsewhere, among the Jews of Russia.


AS America entered the twentieth century, more than two million Jews flooded its ports, made their way through the confusing and often humiliating immigration procedures, and dispersed into the marrow of this still-raw country. That first generation of Jews helped fill out and make whole their adopted country.


Many of those Jews were from Russia and had experienced the pogroms, the large-scale anti-Semitic riots ordered by Czar Alexander III. They heard that the area around Denver, a town in the state of Colorado, would welcome them. By 1900, this western town was home to some 7,000 Jews, one of the largest Jewish populations in America. The Denver Jews were educated professionals from Germany and central Europe, who were fighting to become accepted by the “Sacred 36,” the families who ruled Denver’s social life. They were embarrassed by the poor and uneducated Jews coming out of Russia—a rowdy, raucous, and darker-skinned Yiddish-speaking group, many of whom would become peddlers or clerks. In many ways, Russian Jews faced more discrimination from fellow Jews than they did from the Christian business community in Denver. The president of Denver’s Temple Emanuel even sent a warning to Russian Jews to stay away from the city. Nevertheless, they came—8,167 by 1910.


Many of these Russian Jews were catootniks, a twist on the Yiddish word catooteh, which means “quarrel” and was a euphemism for “consumption,” as tuberculosis was then called. Indigent, they came to Denver in hopes that the dry mountain air would alleviate their symptoms.


The story of Jews in the West is largely unknown, overshadowed by that of those who settled in the East and Midwest. But Jews helped build western states and were active in politics almost from the beginning. In 1876, the year Colorado became a state, a road builder and railroad man named Otto Mears—a “Hebrew,” as the Denver newspapers referred to prominent Jews—carried the electoral votes to Washington that elected Rutherford B. Hayes president. Colorado’s Simon Guggenheim was elected to the U.S. Senate in 1906. Idaho had a Jewish governor in 1915, Utah in 1916. By contrast, it was not until 1948 that Herbert Lehman of New York became the first Jewish U.S. senator from the East, and not until 1974 that Abraham Beame became the first Jewish mayor of New York.


ON July 24, 1889, Meyer Krulak, a Russian Jew from Boslov (Bugoslav), a town on the fertile steppes east of the Carpathian Mountains and some sixty-three miles southeast of Kiev, arrived in Philadelphia aboard the SS Pennland. Two of Krulak’s brothers were already in America, Samuel in Philadelphia and Harold in Denver.


Little is known of the Krulak family in the next few years, except that Samuel and most of his family moved to Cleveland. Also, about a year after Meyer arrived, on September 17, 1890, the SS Belgenland arrived in Philadelphia carrying four of his children—Milke, thirteen; Rochel, eleven; Moschku, nine; and Jochled, seven. Upon landing in Philadelphia, Moschku (a Yiddish nickname for the Hebrew Moshe) became Morris. Though only nine years old, Morris had taken—or had been forced to take—the first step toward creating a new life.


Morris first shows up in the Denver city directory in 1908 as a jewelry store clerk; his age is given as nineteen rather than twenty-seven. He would later fill out documents describing himself as a slender man with brown eyes and black hair. The 1910 U.S. census shows him living in a boardinghouse and working as a clerk in a pawnshop. It lists his nationality as Russian and his native language as Yiddish.


It was probably through the pawnshop that Morris met Bessie Zalinsky, the daughter of Herman and Jennie Zalinsky, both Russian Jews from Brest Litovsk who had immigrated to Denver in 1888. Herman, who later changed the family name to Zall, owned a jewelry store. Bessie and Morris were married on November 27, 1910. She was sixteen.


These details, gleaned from ships’ manifests, immigration records, census records, city directories, draft registrations, and other documents, are important because in a few more years Morris and Bessie would construct a fable about their origins. Their only child would elaborate on the fable, continuing even after he became a general officer in the U.S. Marine Corps.


Morris and Bessie—who would soon prefer “Bess”—were living with her parents when Morris filed a declaration of intention to become a U.S. citizen on September 28, 1911. On the application, he said that he had entered the United States through the port of New York in 1898. Given that he was only nine years old and in the company of older siblings when he actually arrived, in 1890, he should be given the benefit of the doubt in misrepresenting both the year and the place of his entry. Nevertheless, considering the smoke screen he would create over the next several decades to obscure his origins, it gives one pause.


Morris and Bess had been married a little more than two years when, on January 7, 1913, their son, Victor Harold Krulak, was born. In 1915, Victor’s parents were involved in an auto accident that only bruised Morris but caused Bess severe abdominal injuries. The resulting surgery rendered her incapable of having any more children. Disconsolate, Morris and Bess showered their love and attention on Victor. They were determined that all the opportunities of America would be available to their only child.


In 1917, Morris registered for the draft. His registration form identifies him as a native of Russia. By then he and his family had moved out of the Zall house and into their own apartment. Morris, his age now listed as twenty-eight, was proprietor of his own pawnshop.


But by the fall of 1917, Morris was no longer a pawnbroker and, in fact, did not provide an occupation for the city directory. In the 1918 and 1919 city directories, his occupation is listed as watchmaker. No employer is given, so it is likely he was working for the Zall family.


In September 1919, Victor entered the first grade at Gilpin Elementary School, a block away from the Zall home. He left the school on October 24 and ten days later was enrolled at Cheyenne Central School in Cheyenne, Wyoming.


HERE we must pause to gain perspective. Morris left a relatively sophisticated city of more than 225,000 inhabitants—a city where his wife’s family was prosperous and becoming well-known—to move some hundred miles north to a rough-and-ready cow town of 13,829. The Jewish population in Cheyenne was so small that the single synagogue had trouble keeping a rabbi. There would have to have been some sort of serious precipitating incident to justify Morris’s withdrawing his son from school less than two months after he began the first grade and moving the family to another state, especially given that Morris was a thoughtful and deliberate man. Samuel Zall, Bess’s brother, moved to Cheyenne at the same time.


These were years of rampant anti-Semitism in America. A man named Leo Frank was lynched near Atlanta. Membership in the Ku Klux Klan reached four million. Henry Ford would soon take over the Dearborn Independent, make it the second-largest paper in America, and fill it with such virulent anti-Semitic articles that it would eventually be shut down by legal action.


But national events rarely inform personal actions. Whatever Morris’s reason for uprooting his family, it is almost certain it was immediate and personal. He may have wanted to start a new life in Cheyenne. He may have wanted to break away from his in-laws and go into business for himself. Surviving family members do not know. When Victor Krulak was ninety-five, he said that the sole reason his father left Denver was “to make my life a success.” He would not elaborate.


THE West is the part of America that gave us our origin myth, and few places better represented that myth—the chance to create a new life—than Cheyenne, Wyoming. When the Krulaks arrived, they found a town on the make.


Cheyenne was created by the Union Pacific Railroad and was a major stop on the first transcontinental route. It would be a refueling stop for pilots flying mail from the East to San Francisco. There had once been an opera, and people boasted that the town had “culture.” But steam locomotives would fade away and long-distance aircraft would mean that planes could overfly Cheyenne, and eventually the town would return to its cowboy heritage.


In 1919, Cheyenne still had more horses than cars, and horse manure dotted the main street. The town thrived on its history of cowboys and Indians and the Johnson County range war, fought between cattlemen and farmers. Tom Horn, the legendary detective-assassin, had been hanged only a few decades earlier, and people still talked of him. During Frontier Days, a weeklong celebration at the end of July, cowboys raced horses up and down the main street.


James Montgomery Flagg, the artist who created the World War I recruitment poster of Uncle Sam leaning forward and saying, “I Want You,” went through Cheyenne a few years later and reported that the town was shabby and dusty and that all the citizens talked about was Frontier Days. He said local post cards featured just one subject: “a horse giving an imitation of interpretative dancing.”


If Cheyenne was a town on the make, Morris Krulak was a man on the make, for himself and his son. In the 1920 census, he no longer identified himself as a Russian Jew. Instead, he now said that he had been born in Pennsylvania, and that is what he told his son. Perhaps because his “official” birthplace was now Pennsylvania, he allowed his citizenship application to lapse. He never became a U.S. citizen.


Victor knew that his parents were Jewish, but they never spoke Yiddish in their home or elsewhere. “I never heard my father use a foreign word,” Krulak said. “He always spoke simple King’s English.” Bess Krulak, however, sprinkled her conversation with Yiddish words, and it is difficult to imagine that her son never heard his parents use the language.


Nevertheless, Morris was a secular Jew, and his desire for assimilation was so strong that Victor never received any religious instruction, never attended synagogue, and, as far as can be determined, never had a bar mitzvah. In this way, Morris paved the way for his son later to minimize his Jewish background. “It is not who you were or where you were from, but it is what you do that is important,” he told Victor. “If you study and if you succeed, it will not matter what you were.”


Victor later said that when he moved to Cheyenne, he began attending St. Mark’s Episcopal Church, the only Episcopal church in town. He may have attended—although his three sons doubt it—but he never became a member. On his admission form for the Naval Academy, however, he wrote that he was “Jewish,” showing that he still self-identified as a Jew. When he said, “I grew up Episcopalian,” he was telling the story he wanted to be true.


Morris became manager of the Hub Shoe & Clothing Store, a dry goods store at 210 West Lincoln Highway, a short block from the imposing Union Pacific train station and across the street from the Atlas Hotel and the Atlas Theatre. The train station, hotel, and theater were the epicenter of Cheyenne’s business, political, and social life. Senator Francis Warren, the political muscle of Wyoming, had a mansion around the corner, and when he was home, he walked the streets visiting local businesses. Cheyenne remained a small town—everyone knew everyone—and it was the seat of Senator Warren’s national political power. Morris met the distinguished senator and was also on good terms with Vincent Carter, the state’s sole congressman.


John (Jochled) Krulak, Morris’s younger brother, who served as an enlisted man in the U.S. Army, flitted in and out of Cheyenne during these years and may have lived with Morris and Bess for a while. The Cheyenne school census of 1923 and 1924 shows Victor living with “J,” which would have been his uncle John, a mystifying entry. In later years, when Victor spoke of his uncle, it would be with scorn.


A few doors down from the Hub, Bess’s brother Samuel, who was three years older than Morris, worked as a jeweler. Despite what Victor would later say, the Krulaks were open about being Jewish, about Samuel being Bess’s brother, and about most of their close friends being Jewish. But those people, too, were secular Jews.


Not long after moving to Cheyenne, Morris told his son, “Nobody ever learned a bad habit from a horse.” He went out to nearby Fort D. A. Russell, until a few years earlier the largest Army cavalry post in America, and bought a horse for Victor. (The gentle old animal was retired and came at a good price.) Named Jim, the horse stood at sixteen hands, so tall that Victor had to climb up on a fence to mount him. He rode bareback until he was a skilled horseman, then Morris bought him a pony named Beauty, a spirited animal who threw Victor countless times. One year his Christmas present was a small western saddle. Learning to ride a horse, a common skill in Cheyenne, would later stand Krulak in great stead.


School census records in Cheyenne present strong but inconclusive evidence that Victor spent at least part of the seventh grade in Coronado, California. If he did go to California, records indicate that Morris and Bess did not. Why Victor went, whom he stayed with, and why the stay was so short are not known. All his life, Krulak talked about how important Coronado was to him in his youth, but he never disclosed precisely how he ended up there.


In 1928, when Victor was a freshman at Cheyenne High School, he became a member of the two-person debate team. The next year, he joined the Dramatic Club, the newspaper staff, and the Boys’ Pep Club. In retrospect, these four activities foreshadowed crucial aspects of a career in which he would become a feared advocate with a pronounced flair for the dramatic.


As a sophomore, Victor stood a little over five feet tall and weighed about 110 pounds, a size that indicates he would have had a tough time in the cowboy culture of Cheyenne. But photographs in The Lariat, the school yearbook, show him standing, feet apart, with a self-confident, even cocky, expression on his face. Genetics had given him a small, slight body but, almost in compensation, an outsize intellect, a dominating personality, and far more self-confidence than reposes in most boys.


Victor took part in no athletics at Cheyenne High School, and surprisingly, given his career, he did not join the Reserve Officers’ Training Corps (ROTC). The latter is significant for two reasons. First, pictures of the Cheyenne High ROTC unit indicate that almost every boy at the school joined. Second, Victor was about to apply for a nomination to the U.S. Naval Academy, and the ROTC training would have been of considerable benefit to him. Perhaps he did not join ROTC because of his involvement in so many other school activities. Or perhaps it was because of a budding cerebral bent. “I was thinking about things that boys that age don’t usually think about,” he later said.


When Victor was a freshman in high school, Morris asked Senator Warren to nominate his son as a candidate to the U.S. Military Academy. Warren would have been happy to accommodate Morris’s request, but his nominations to West Point were filled. However, landlocked Wyoming lads had little interest in the Navy, and there was an opening at the Naval Academy for the class entering the next summer. In a December 15, 1928, letter, the senator offered Victor the chance to take the entrance exams in April 1929. Victor was one of the senator’s last military academy nominations, as Warren died in November 1929.


THE Naval Academy would be a pivot point in Victor Krulak’s life. Thus it is important to understand why he wanted to go there and how he got there. The why is the more important question. Why would a short, scrawny boy from Wyoming want to enter the harsh physical world of the Naval Academy? Why would a boy from a Jewish family want to enter a place then infamous for its anti-Semitism and overt racism? Why would a boy with a Jewish background want to leave the relatively tolerant environs of the West and move to a part of America where hotels and restaurants bore signs saying “Christians Only” and “No Dogs or Jews”? Why would Morris want his only son to go to a service academy when Russian Jews, because of the pogroms, generally loathed the military?


The answers are complex. First, Morris Krulak did not have the money to send his son to college. Second, he knew that graduates of a U.S. military academy were afforded automatic entry into the boardrooms and drawing rooms of America. Being a military officer was a shortcut to the American dream. What better way for a Jew to show his allegiance to America than by joining the military and fighting for his country? It would be a matter of immense pride in the Jewish community back in Denver that a second-generation Jewish boy was accepted at the Naval Academy. Victor’s cousin Ronnie Zall, Samuel’s son, would later say, “That was a big deal. He was the hero of the family. We were all proud of him.”


Victor later gave researchers various reasons for why he wanted to go to the Academy, one of which was that while he was in Coronado, the sight of warships in the bay had excited his interest in the Navy. He also said that his uncle John had awakened his interest in the military. And he had still another reason, this one probably true: “I had a friend whose father was in the military, and that influenced me.” The friend was Doris Macklin, daughter of Major Walter F. Macklin, an Army physician stationed at Fort Russell. Doris was in the Dramatic Club with Victor, and she was more than a friend.


Sometimes Krulak said that his father wanted him to go to Harvard and become a lawyer, while his mother wanted him to go there and become a doctor. There may have been conversations along these lines, but given that Morris was a clerk in a clothing store, he probably couldn’t afford the tuition to Harvard. In addition, Jews were far from welcome at Harvard. The truth is that had it not been for his appointment to the Naval Academy, Victor Krulak may not have received a college education. Krulak recalled, “I was the apple of my mother’s and father’s eye. They spoiled me.” Beyond that, and noting that every Christmas his mother made little sugar cookies called kiffles for him, he had little to say about his parents. “My childhood was too boring for me to remember much about my parents,” he declared. In 2007, when Krulak was shown the family genealogy going back to Russia, he was amazed—particularly that Morris had never become a U.S. citizen. “I thought my father came from Philadelphia. I must study this for several days before I can discuss it,” he said.


A few days later, Krulak said more. His choice of words was revealing in that when he talked about his parents, he could not force himself to utter the words “Jew,” “Jewish,” or “Yiddish.” “My father never talked of his spirituality. It was always about hard work. My father was a very serious man. He was very quiet about his background, about everything, almost silent. I learned from him that life is serious, that sometimes you have only one chance. My father always talked of my future.”


He paused and added, “I would hope that this book not dwell on my father’s spirituality, but rather his lessons of hard work.”


If he and his father never discussed their religion, what of importance did they discuss?


“He told me, ‘You will be short, and you will be bald. But you don’t have to be fat.’ ”


There was but one addition: “He told me the way to get along with a new acquaintance is to express genuine interest in the day-to-day affairs of the other person.”


And that is all Victor Krulak would say about his parents.


ON March 23, 1929, when he was sixteen, and only a few weeks before he was to take the entrance examinations for the Naval Academy, Victor assumed the name Donald V. Merrell and boarded a train for Boulder, Colorado. Accompanying him was Doris Macklin, age fifteen, who assumed the name Virginia D. King. The young couple went to the county clerk in Boulder, affirmed that they were twenty-one and eighteen, respectively, and obtained a marriage license. Then they went before a justice of the peace in Longmont, Colorado, and were married. Nine days later, the marriage was annulled, and Doris resumed her maiden name. (The annulment is not surprising. Because Victor and Doris had married under assumed names, the marriage was invalid. Immediately after the annulment, Major Macklin obtained an emergency transfer to Schofield Barracks in Hawaii. Three years later, he was ordered to Fort McPherson in Atlanta, where Doris met and married an Army lieutenant.) Given that the Naval Academy does not accept students who are married or who have been married, Morris Krulak was no doubt outraged that his son would jeopardize his opportunity to attend Annapolis. Everything Morris had planned for his son was now at risk.


When I asked Krulak why he married at sixteen, he threw his arms wide and said, “Goddamned if I know.” The most likely explanation is that Doris was pregnant, which Krulak vigorously denied. Another explanation would be affirming the obvious: sixteen-year-old boys are devoid of sound judgment.


Applicants to the Naval Academy are expected to have judgment beyond their years, so Krulak hid this marriage when he applied to Annapolis. Legally, of course, the annulment meant that the marriage had never happened. But such an argument is sophistic, as Victor violated the spirit, if not the letter, of the Academy’s regulations. In so doing, he failed to meet the standards of the Academy, whose mission is to imbue students with the highest ideals of duty and honor.


Indeed, not only did he hide the marriage from officials at Annapolis, but he also hid it from his second wife and from his three sons. About that marriage, he would say only, “It was a moment in time that went nowhere. I have not thought of her in decades. I don’t see this as a significant factor in my life.” He would talk no more about it, except to say, “This should not be included in the biography.”


This cold dismissal of Krulak’s first love is indicative of the hard-edged pragmatism and lack of emotion he would display most of his life. It was also indicative of his propensity to revise information that was not in accord with the biography he wanted.


KRULAK flunked the entrance exams to Annapolis. By then news of the marriage and annulment had no doubt made the rounds in Cheyenne. As soon as the school year ended, Morris and Bess took Victor back to Denver, where he enrolled in the summer session at Denver’s East High School. He lived with the Zalls, whose home was only a few blocks from the school.


Morris now appealed to Congressman Carter to give Victor another chance at attending the Academy. He said that his son would attend a preparatory school and would do better on the next admission tests. The congressman agreed to make Victor his principal nominee for entrance in 1930, but now there was some fear that the Academy might reject Victor because of his size. Although he had grown, he was still only five feet four inches tall and weighed 116 pounds. On August 28, 1929, Carter wrote a letter to the superintendent of the Academy asking for a preliminary physical examination by Navy doctors “in order that Mr. Krulak may correct any minor physical defects, if any.”


AFTER Victor spent three months at East High School, he and his mother boarded the Union Pacific and headed to Annapolis, where Victor enrolled in the Bobby Werntz Preparatory School, the sole purpose of which was to enable young men to pass the entrance exams to the Academy. Tuition for the October–May term was $125.


About the time he arrived in Annapolis, he took a physical examination at the Academy and was deemed physically acceptable. Officials there believed that he would grow during the four years of tough physical conditioning.


In his application, Victor said that he had completed twelve years of school when in fact he had completed only the tenth grade. He studied hard for the exams, and on May 23, 1930, Congressman Carter notified him that he had passed and that his appointment had been confirmed. With a grade of 4.0 being perfect and 2.5 considered passing, Victor had scored 3.4 in geometry, 3.8 in algebra, 3.6 in English, 3.7 in history, 3.9 in ancient history, and 3.9 in physics, for an average of 3.7. Carter ended his letter by saying that Victor’s father knew many people in Cheyenne and he hoped the Krulaks would help in Carter’s upcoming reelection campaign.


For Victor, it was not enough that he had been accepted to the Naval Academy. He later told people that his grades had placed him first among all the plebes entering Annapolis that year. The Academy, citing privacy constraints, would not confirm this. Nevertheless, a 3.7 average was more than respectable. Victor Krulak was ready, physically and academically, for the U.S. Naval Academy.


THE year that Victor entered the Academy, Morris told U.S. census takers that his parents were from England, while Bess claimed that her father had been born in Switzerland and her mother in Poland. Morris and Bess had created a new life in the American West. Their son, who would show that in family matters the apple did not fall far from the tree, would create another new life in the East. Although he had been appointed to the Academy as a resident of Wyoming, Cheyenne quickly became a footnote. He was now the man from Denver with deep roots in America. Krulak told people that his great-grandfather had served in the Confederate army, that his grandfather had moved from Louisiana to Colorado to homestead 640 acres of land, and that his father had been born in the Colorado capital. Krulak added that his father had graduated from the Colorado School of Mines and had “started off in silver” before doing “engineering work.” Sometimes, even years later, he claimed that his father was “a scientist” and hinted of material success by saying, “My father had capital,” and “I spent my summers on a ranch.” He told one researcher that his father retired to San Diego in 1928 but lost all his money in the stock market collapse of 1929 and had to return to Denver. The baby book kept by his mother included a diploma from Coronado Elementary School in San Diego showing that Victor graduated on June 10, 1927, and a program of the 1930 Cheyenne High School graduation showing that Victor was a graduate. The provenance of the first is doubtful; the second is a fabrication.


Victor Krulak would tell his own version of his life story until the day he died. To his Jewish relatives in Denver, it was a story that caused immense pain.
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Rocks and Shoals


ON Krulak’s first day at the Naval Academy, a towering midshipman looked down at him, smirked, and said, “Well, Brute.”


It is likely that the upperclassman, pleased with his sense of humor, moved on and forgot the incident. But from that moment on, Krulak was taken with the name and henceforth introduced himself as “Brute Krulak.” Over the years, the derisive nickname would evolve into one of great respect and, in some quarters, a certain amount of fear.


“I was scared of a strange world,” Krulak said of entering the Academy. He had good reason. Life at “the Severn River High School” or “Canoe U” was rigorous, demanding, and for plebes (freshmen) brutal. Hazing was rampant, and plebes were verbally abused and physically beaten.


The Navy is the most hoary of all the military services, and it is essential that plebes learn Navy traditions. One Sunday evening every month, Brute and the other plebes marched into Memorial Hall and listened as the Articles for the Governance of the Navy were read: “The captain of a ship shall not suffer his ship to run upon a rock or a shoal,” “the captain shall not strike his flag nor pusillanimously cry for quarter”—the famous “rocks and shoals” speech that many Academy graduates remember all their lives.


Attendance was mandatory at a weekly “nonsectarian” service modeled on the Episcopal Church liturgy. Because Episcopalianism was the religion favored by many senior officers in all branches of the military, the Episcopalian model was considered most appropriate for a military academy. It may have been during his plebe year at the Academy that Brute first told the story of growing up as an Episcopalian. This would not have been a big leap; at the time, Jews who converted to Christianity often chose the Episcopal Church, which was seen as the “country club church” of the upper classes. (A widespread saying among Jewish children was, “If you can kiss your elbow, you will turn into an Episcopalian.”)


In a very real sense, Victor Krulak’s life began at the Naval Academy. On the personal side was the fabulist yarn he had concocted about his early life. On the professional side, he was a tabula rasa, and he soaked up everything the Navy threw at him. But he remained spoiled, undisciplined, and self-indulgent. During his plebe year, he was sometimes late for formation, did not shine his shoes, and allowed food to stain his uniform. His size and high energy level gave him the appearance of a water bug as he scooted down the hall, darting in and out of rooms along the way. Accounts of the time reveal him as a prankster and, though details are slim, something of a ladies’ man. His grades were undistinguished.


THE year after Brute entered the Academy, his parents moved back to Denver. In the 1932 Denver city directory, information for which was gathered during the summer of 1931, Morris is listed as a jeweler. It seems he had returned to work for his father-in-law.


AT some point during Brute’s first two years at the Academy, he met Amy Chandler. Amy was the petite, dark-haired, and vivacious daughter of William D. Chandler, who had graduated from the Academy in 1911 and now taught electrical engineering there. This was the class in which Brute made his best grades. The Chandlers were an old, genteel East Coast family, Episcopalians all. (A family friend was author Herman Wouk, and it has been said that William was the model for Pug Henry, the principled main character in Wouk’s novel The Winds of War.) Amy’s maternal grandfather was a prominent Washington doctor, and her paternal great-grandfather, William E. Chandler, was secretary of the Navy under President Chester Arthur and revered as “the Father of the Modern Navy.” The Chandler family lived on a large estate in northwest Washington called Cliveden. (This estate was later bought by socialite Perle Mesta and then by Vice President Lyndon Johnson.) Brute and Amy met at a weekend dance. The young couple danced to “Smoke Gets in Your Eyes,” a song from the new operetta Roberta. And so it began.


BRUTE’S third year at the Academy was pivotal. For the Army-Navy football game, he had anti-Army posters printed and sold them to midshipmen. Although the wording is lost to memory, it was most certainly scatological. But Academy officials were not as concerned about the content as they were about the fact that Brute had sold the posters to fellow midshipmen, a commercial act expressly forbidden by Academy regulations. (That Krulak did not know about the regulation was, in the rigid and unforgiving world of the Academy, irrelevant.) He was brought before a disciplinary board, charged with “conduct to the prejudice of good order and discipline,” and given 78 demerits—so many that, on November 25, 1933, he was, according to his Academy records, “INFORMED IN DANGER OF BECOMING UNSAT. IN CONDUCT,” which usually led to dismissal. An instructor told Krulak that he was not the material from which naval officers were made and that he should consider another career. Despite these events, Krulak remained at the Academy, intent on pursuing a military career.


DURING all this, Brute’s friendship with Lieutenant Colonel Holland M. Smith, an influential officer in the Marine Corps, flourished. As a veteran of Belleau Wood, Smith was a revered figure among midshipmen and enjoyed great respect within the Corps.


Smith was stationed in Philadelphia during Brute’s first two years at the Academy and often came to Annapolis to visit his son John Victor (whom he called Victor). During Brute’s third year, Smith was transferred to Washington, and he and his wife often entertained midshipmen in their home. Because of the impact Smith would have on Krulak’s career, we must pause here to consider both Smith and the racial views prevalent within the military at the time.


Smith was a short, stocky man from Alabama, an unreconstructed southerner, an ardent Protestant, and quite conservative. Demanding, profane, and burdened with melancholy, he had thinning hair and an impassive face. His flat, intimidating stare was magnified by austere steel-rimmed glasses. His father was a lawyer and had enough political connections that Holland had been offered a nomination to Annapolis. But his parents believed that attending the Academy would be a “surrender to Yankee ideology,” so Smith went to what was then called Alabama Polytechnic Institute (now Auburn University) and then to law school. He joined his father’s practice but, by his own admission, was a terrible lawyer. Frustrated, he joined the Marine Corps in 1905 and fought in World War I.


In his autobiography, Smith manifests a patronizing and paternal attitude toward blacks. He was not alone in this regard; many Marine officers were southerners who believed that the Marine Corps was a club for white men only. (Blacks were not accepted into the Corps until World War II, and then mostly as laborers and in noncombat roles.) Smith’s attitude toward Jews is not known, but at the time anti-Semitism was almost institutionalized both at the Naval Academy and in the Marine Corps. As a result, few Jews—enlisted men or officers—were found in the Corps.


In the early 1930s, the Naval Academy formed one of the toughest color barriers in America: no black man had graduated from the Academy since it was established almost ninety years earlier. Robert Schneller, in Breaking the Color Barrier: The U.S. Naval Academy’s First Black Midshipmen and the Struggle for Racial Equality, says that the Academy was the fountainhead of the Navy’s institutionalized racism. Krulak’s parents thought that their only son had entered an institution that would grant him access to the American dream. Annapolis would do that, but first Krulak had to experience the worst side of the American military.
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